IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-1417

PAUL C. HILDWIN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Florida Bar No. 0754773 McClain & McDermott, P.A. Attorneys at Law 141 NE 30th Street Wilton Manors, FL 33334 (305) 984-8344

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Citations in this brief to designate references to the records, followed by the appropriate page number, are as follows:

"R. ___" - Record on direct appeal to this Court from the 1986 trial;

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 21, 1985, Mr. Hildwin was arrested on charges of uttering a forged instrument in Hernando County, Florida. On November 22, 1985, Mr. Hildwin was indicted for the first degree murder of Vronzettie Cox. On April 22, 1986, the public defender's office withdrew as Mr. Hildwin's counsel due to a conflict. As a result, Daniel Lewan was appointed to represent Mr. Hildwin.

A laundry bag full of clothes was also found in the car. The State suggested that the clothes on top of the laundry bag were the clothes that Cox must have had contact with right before her death. The State presented forensic evidence that a pair of women's panties found on top of the laundry bag were semen stained, and that a wash rag also located on top of the laundry bag was saliva stained.

Law enforcement discovered that the last check cashed on Cox's checking account was made out to Mr. Hildwin. When the check was cashed at around 12:30 PM on September 9, 1985, the teller wrote information taken from Mr. Hildwin's driver's license on the back of the check (R. 406). As a result, law enforcement contacted Mr. Hildwin. After he was interviewed, he was charged with uttering a forged instrument. Subsequently, he was indicted for the murder on the theory that Cox was murdered by Mr. Hildwin before he cashed the check at round 12:30 PM on September $9^{\rm th}$.

On the evening of September 12, 1985, Bernice Moore reported her sister, Vronzettie Cox, as missing to law enforcement. Law enforcement began trying to trace Cox's last known activities the next day, September 13, 1985. Coincidently, sometime on September 13th, two men riding motorcycles through the woods discovered a 1984 brown Chevrolet stuck in the mud at the edge of a lake (R. 235-41). The men later notified law enforcement. After the Hernando County Sheriff's Office learned that a car had been seen stuck in the mud at the edge of a lake, deputies responded. Cox's nude body was found in the vehicle's trunk (R. 248-50). A pathologist examining the body concluded that death was a result of strangulation (R. 298).

²At an evidentiary hearing in 1992, Mr. Lewan testified that he had no prior experience with capital cases (PC-R. 3048, 3123-24). Mr. Hildwin's case was the first time that he had been appointed to represent someone in which the State was seeking a death sentence. Besides having no capital experience, Mr. Lewan had no one to assist him in the case. A second chair was not appointed.

Four months after Mr. Lewan was first appointed to represent Mr. Hildwin in his first capital case, the case went to trial on August 25, 1986. Mr. Lewan testified in 1992 that the theory of defense at the 1986 trial was innocence. The window of opportunity for Mr. Hildwin to have committed the murder was narrow (an hour and a half period of time on the morning of September 9, 1985). In that vein, Mr. Lewan looked for ways to shift the time frame. He also was looking for other suspects who committed the murder, primarily William Haverty, the victim's live-in boyfriend.

Now, we're not going to present all the evidence, the volume of evidence the state has presented. We don't have that []...We're going to show that the victim was a 42 year old female. She was living with a 23 year old man. We're going to show that he [Haverty] had just as equal an opportunity as my client to have committed this crime.

³Mr. Lewan graduated from law school in December 1982 and was admitted to the Florida Bar the following year (PC-R. 3046). In his first three years as an attorney leading up to his 1986 trial representing Paul Hildwin, Mr. Lewan had handled "about six jury trials" which he recalled were "A couple of DUI's, drug possession &, AG assaults, things of that nature" (PC-R. 3048). Mr. Hildwin was the first death penalty client Mr. Lewan had ever represented (PC-R. 3123). Mr. Lewan represented Mr. Hildwin as a result of his contract with the public defender's office to handle all conflict cases for a year and was provided no assistance by another attorney (PC-R. 3048, 3051). Trial counsel was on the case "approximately four months prior to trial" (PC-R. 3121), and had to complete all his preparation in that period. Counsel had no meaningful experience with death penalty litigation (PC-R. 3123-24). Counsel did not seek the advice of anyone who had experience conducting a capital penalty phase, had never observed a penalty phase, and had never read the penalty phase testimony of a mental health expert (PC-R. 3135).

⁴In his opening statement, Mr. Lewan told the jury:

Though the State had not formally charged Mr. Hildwin with sexual assault, it was the State's contention that the murder was committed by Mr. Hildwin either in the course of or following a sexual assault on the victim.⁵

Judge, first of all, I feel that the evidence that's going to come out in this case showing this victim unclothed with a ligature around her neck, with her legs bent over her head and forced into the trunk of a car, her clothes found in various areas in the county, a reasonable inference can be made that a sexual assault occurred and we certainly intend to argue that if the evidence supports it.

(R. 1181). Subsequently, the prosecutor elaborated:

I don't anticipate standing up or Mr. Cole standing up and screaming sexual battery. But when we get to the point in the trial where enough evidence has been put before the jury within a reasonable inference that a sexual battery occurred, we intend to refer to it.

(R. 1185).

⁵The state explained that it intended to argue that the evidence would provide the State with a basis for arguing that the victim was sexually assaulted by Mr. Hildwin at a side bar:

In the prosecutor's opening statement, he informed the jury that Paul Hildwin's semen and saliva matched the semen and saliva found on the victim's panties and washcloth located at the crime scene:

Finally taken from that laundry bag was a pair of women's clothing sitting on top of the laundry bag, a pair of women's panties and a wash rag. Now, on those panties was some semen and it has the same blood characteristics that the defendant has. And there will be an expert from the FBI to testify to you about that. On the wash rag there are characteristics of human sweat that is consistent with this defendant.

(R. 223-4).6

During the State's case, it introduced the semen-stained women's panties and a saliva-stained wash rag found on top of the laundry bag in the victim's car (R. 697-99). Evidence was introduced that forensic analysis had determined that the semen and saliva found on these items came from a nonsecretor (i.e., an individual who does not secrete blood typing into other bodily fluids). Evidence was also introduced to show that Mr. Hildwin was a nonsecretor. This meant that the forensic finding was consistent

⁶In testimony presented to the jury by the State, it was advised that the biological evidence matched only 11% of the male population that included Paul Hildwin due to Mr. Hildwin's unique status as a non-secretor.

⁷The State also introduced a brassiere that was found inside the victim's purse (R. 546-48). Evidence was presented that the purse had been found discarded in some brush approximately a quarter of a mile from Mr. Hildwin's home (R. 536). Based upon the condition of the brassiere inside the purse the State asserted that it had been violently ripped off of the victim in the course of a sexual assault by Mr. Hildwin.

with Mr. Hildwin having been the source of the semen and saliva.

Testimony was presented that white male nonsecretors

"probably" make up only eleven percent of the population. The prosecution used this evidence in closing argument at the original trial to argue that Mr. Hildwin raped and then killed the victim:

Inside that purse was a lady's brassiere. There's something very interesting about this, and I want you folks to examine this item. This was not taken off. This was not taken off by anyone during a consensual sex act that involved choking. This is not a consensual sex act. Look at the brassiere. This thing has been literally ripped off. There is nothing consensual about this. This is in shreds. You can still see where one of the hooks is still in the eyelet and the other one is torn completely out and the other one is ripped off. This is not a consensual act. This is one of those arrows that Mr. Lewan threw up in the air.

Agent Reem testified about the blood test, the serology test, the secretor/non-secretor evidence, and he told you that some people are what he calls secretors, meaning that they secrete ABO or ABH factors into their other bodily fluids and others don't. Eleven percent-only eleven percent of the white male population are secretors, meaning eighty-nine percent are not. Bill Haverty is a secretor. In other words, his semen and his saliva would exhibit the ABH factors. The defendant, Paul Hildwin, is not a secretor. His saliva and semen would not exhibit the ABH factors. You'll have the little chart that he made and you can look at it.

What's interesting about that is that on these panties were found-these panties were found in the car on top of the laundry, Sergeant Haygood testified to, not in the laundry, on top of the laundry. These panties contained semen that is consistent with the non-secretor 11 percent of the white male population, consistent with the defendant in this case and not consistent with Bill Haverty. This wash rag had saliva from a non-secretor consistent with Paul Hildwin, the defendant, not consistent with Bill Haverty.

And before we go any further, remember the statement that the defendant made to Investigator Phifer that after-after

Vronzettie Cox was choked to death, the man that did it washed his face with a white rag.

 $(R. 971-2).^8$

In its closing argument, the State admitted that its case against Paul Hildwin was circumstantial:

...you all agreed that circumstantial evidence is good evidence... Circumstantial evidence is good evidence. Circumstantial evidence can prove a case beyond a reasonable doubt, and in this case we have a lot of circumstantial evidence and it is good evidence... that circumstantial evidence buries him.

(R. 933). Later, the State asserted:

The only issue that's come up in this case was one that came up in the opening statement in the case the defense made. Mr. Lewan stood at this podium and told you ladies and gentlemen, he said, 'Bill Haverty had an equal opportunity to kill Vronzettie Cox.'

... Now, when he gets up here to do his closing argument, ask him, Did you prove Bill Haverty did this?' And if you folks think that Bill Haverty did this first degree murder, strangled this woman, then you come back with not guilty. You come back and tell me and Mr. Cole and you tell the judge that he's not guilty, and he'll get up and walk out that back door of the courtroom with all of us.

(R. 937).

The jury found Mr. Hildwin guilty of first degree murder when it returned its verdict on September 4, 1986. The next day, the jury recommended the imposition of a death sentence. The judge

The State did introduce statements made by Mr. Hildwin to law enforcement. However, these statements were not "confessions." Rather, the State argued that Mr. Hildwin's statements were argued as demonstrating that he knew too much and that thus he must have been the one who sexually assaulted the victim and then killer her.

imposed a death sentence on September 17, 1986. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed. Hildwin v. State, 531 So. 2d 124 (Fla. 1988).

On May 17, 1990, Governor Martinez signed a death warrant scheduling Mr. Hildwin's execution for July 17, 1990. Due to the crisis condition that the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative (hereinafter CCR) was in and its inability to handle Mr. Hildwin's case under the exigencies of an active death warrant, this Court issued a stay of execution on June 21, 1990, and it directed CCR to file the appropriate post-conviction pleadings challenging Mr. Hildwin's conviction and sentence of death on or before October 19, 1990. Subsequently, this Court granted an extension until October 24, 1990.

Thereafter, CCR on behalf of Mr. Hildwin filed a timely Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 1612). Later, CCR was permitted to amend the motion (PC-R. 1855-2090). Beginning on February 24, 1992, an evidentiary hearing was conducted on three of Mr. Hildwin's claims for relief (PC-R. 3032-3883).

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Hildwin presented evidence in support of his claim that he was innocent of the murder for which he had been convicted. Mr. Lewan testified that the State's case against Mr. Hildwin allowed for only an hour or hour and a half window during which Mr. Hildwin could have committed the murder and that any information indicating the victim was alive after this time period "would have effectively destroyed the State's case" (PC-R. 3060).

Mr. Lewan testified that his theory of defense at trial was that the victim's live-in boyfriend, William Haverty, was the actual killer $(PC-R.\ 3063-64)$.

At the 1992 evidentiary hearing, Mr. Lewan was shown the documents that Mr. Hildwin had alleged in his Rule 3.850 motion contained a wealth of exculpatory information that had either not been disclosed by the State to Mr. Hildwin's trial counsel, or that Mr. Hildwin's trial counsel unreasonably failed to discover and present at Mr. Hilwin's trial.

This exculpatory information that was not heard by Mr. Hildwin's jury included information appearing in police reports reflecting that the victim's nephew had seen the victim alive on the afternoon of September 10, 1985 (Exhibits 18 and 21 from the February 24, 1992, evidentiary hearing). In an interview with law enforcement, the victim's nephew, Terry Moore, was "sure" he had seen the victim at a bar about 11:15 p.m. on September 9, 1985 (Exhibit 18 from the February 24, 1992, evidentiary hearing), more than twelve hours after the time period in which the State contended that the victim had been murdered by Mr. Hildwin. Moore told law enforcement that he had spoken with the victim for 3 or 4 hours at the bar, and then the victim left in her car with her boyfriend. During his conversation with the victim, Mr. Moore observed that her boyfriend "appeared not to be too happy" (Exhibit 18 from the February 24, 1992, evidentiary hearing). A few days earlier before their conversation

late at night on September 9, 1985, the victim had asked Moore "to fix a unknown enemy's car so that it didn't run" (Exhibit 18 from the February 24, 1992, evidentiary hearing). According to Moore, the "unknown enemy" was someone who had lived with the victim.

Mr. Lewan testified at the 1992 evidentiary hearing that the report that detailed what Moore had advised law enforcement regarding his three or four hour conversation with the victim on the night of September 9th contained significant information that would have been very helpful to the defense (PC-R. 3083-85). Moore's account showed that the victim was alive twelve hours after the State contended that Mr. Hildwin had murdered her. Further, Moore's statement demonstrated that the victim was feuding with someone who lived with her and was trying to hire someone to destroy her antagonist's car. This supported Mr. Lewan's theory of defense that Haverty had committed the murder.

⁹Mr. Lewan testified that the information set forth in the police report concerning Moore's statement was so significant that he would have remembered if he had possessed it and he undoubtedly would have called Moore as a witness at Mr. Hildwin's trial. Mr. Lewan explained:

A. I know that the contents of this report was not disclosed to me. Something of that significance, that is, the victim being in a bar 12 hours after she was allegedly killed by my client, would have been something I would recall. Especially considering Mr. Moore is apparently related to the victim, he would have personal knowledge of her and be very difficult for him to be mistaken, I would expect.

⁽PC-R. 3087). Mr. Lewan would have used the information in the report because "this goes directly to the State's case and this elaborate time table that they developed" (PC-R. 3088).

The exculpatory information that was not heard by Mr. Hildwin's jury appearing in yet another police report was the representation that the last time the victim was seen alive was when she was observed in a bar at 2 p.m. on September 10 (Ex. 21 from the February 24, 1992, evidentiary hearing). Mr. Lewan testified that the report "was exactly the kind of information I needed to refute the State's case" (PC-R. 3081).

The exculpatory evidence not heard by Mr. Hildwin's jury also included police reports reflecting suspicious behavior by the victim's live-in boyfriend, William Haverty, after her disappearance (Exhibits 16, 20, and 41 from the February 24, 1992, evidentiary hearing). Two police reports discussed Haverty's suspicious conduct at the time the victim was reported missing and when her body was located. At the time the victim was reported missing, Haverty "did not appear upset, but tried to act important by demanding we check our tow log, the hospital, F.H.P., but said don't bother with city P.D. because she would not be in thier [sic] area" (Exhibit 16 from the February 24, 1992, evidentiary hearing). When the victim's body was located, police noted in a report:

[Haverty] became somewhat theatrical in his motions temporarily and then appeared to show no remorse or concern whatsoever. During this interview whatever mood everybody else went was the mood that he went to, if you were serious he was serious, if you cracked a joke he laughed along with you. When relating his story in his sequence of times, Mr.

¹⁰Mr. Lewan testified that this report contained information which would have been helpful to the theory of defense and would have been pursued had he been aware of the report (PC-R. 3063-65).

Haverty was very quick in his responses almost as though his story had been

rehearsed. IT SHOULD ALSO BE NOTED that initially when Mr. Haverty was questioned about Monday morning prior to Ronnie leaving the residence to go to the bank and do the laundry he did not mention anything about having sex with her prior to her leaving however, at the and of this interview when he was requested to give hair standards, at that time he made the remark that he had sex with her prior to her leaving therefore teh (sic)

hair standards would not help. IT SHOULD ALSO BE NOTED when Mr. Haverty was advisd (sic) that on Friday night everybody was looking for him in the Bars in an attempt to talk to him, he spontaneously started to make the remark, "I knew you would be" and then he caught himself and stopped making the remark. Mr. Haverty's body language portrayed him to be very nervous from time to time and then he would mellow out, however he kept wanting to know where the vehicle was found and how she was killed. No mention of this was made to him. Every time you would refer to him being in the area north of Hexam Road, he was very emphatic he would take a short cut to go across to the trailer. The only place he has been in the area out there would be to Took behind Camp a Whyle where he would fish.

(Exhibit 41 from the February 24, 1992, evidentiary hearing). 11 Another police report contained observations made by the victim's sister of suspicious activity within the victim's trailer days after when the State alleged the homicide had occurred:

Writer called Mrs. Moore [the victim's sister) and was advised that she went to the victim's trailer on 9/12/85 to look for victim and on 9/13/85 around 11:00 a.m, she went back to the victim's trailer and noticed the victim's watch on a sink. The watch was not on the sink on 9/12/85 according to Moore. She also noticed a knife in a sheath on the kitchen table that she says was not there on 9/12/85. She stated that she belived (sic) Bill Haverty was headed to Ohio. Also

¹¹Mr. Lewan testified that this report contained "significant" information which would have been helpful to his theory of defense (PC-R. 3065-67). Had he been aware of the report, he would have investigated further, and presented the information to the jury.

stated that victim went fishing often at the lake where her body was found.

(Exhibit 17 from the February 24, 1992, evidentiary hearing). 12

The exculpatory evidence not heard by Mr. Hildwin's jury also included police reports reflecting the discovery of a note in the victim's trailer which she shared with her boyfriend. The handwritten note stated: "Fuck off and die". The note further advised its recipient that if the recipient "didn't like it at the house" the recipient "could leave" (Exhibit 19 from the February 24, 1992, evidentiary hearing). Because the victim shared the trailer with Mr. Haverty, the note seemingly was a correspondence between the two of them. A deputy testified in 1992 that Haverty had told law enforcement that he had been the one who wrote the note, meaning that the victim was the recipient of the note (PC-R. 3728, 3746). 13

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