IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-1417

PAUL CHRISTOPHER HILDWIN

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, FLORIDA

> BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Fla. Bar No. 998818 SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX-(386)226-0457

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

On January 7, 2000, Hildwin filed a motion to vacate conviction and sentence attacking the death sentence imposed on resentencing. Hildwin filed an amended motion on January 16, 2001, and then filed a "successive" postconviction motion (attacking that sentence) on June 29, 2001. The State filed a response, a *Huff* hearing was held, and the circuit court issued an order on that hearing on September 14, 2001.

Hildwin next sought DNA testing pursuant to the Rules of Criminal Procedure. The court allowed that testing, and, on August 26, 2003, after DNA testing had been conducted, Hildwin filed an "amended successive" motion containing five (5) claims which were an amendment to the June 29, 2001, postconviction motion. Following a Huff hearing on the amendment to the successive motion, the Circuit Court issued an order denying relief on the claims contained in the amendment. Hildwin filed a motion for rehearing, but at no time suggested that there were any unresolved issues relating to the post-conviction proceedings before the circuit court. The court denied the motion for rehearing and, Hildwin filed notice of appeal from the circuit court's denial of relief on June 16, 2004. The appeal was briefed and argued, and, on December 14, 2006, this Court affirmed the denial of post-conviction relief. The mandate was issued on March 23, 2007, and the case became final for all purposes. On May 24, 2007, Hildwin claimed, for the first time,

that there were unresolved matters pending before the circuit court. Under settled Florida law, Hildwin abandoned those claims and issues when he appealed only a part of the circuit court proceedings.

The circuit court properly rejected the ineffectiveness of counsel claims, finding that Hildwin could establish neither deficient performance nor prejudice.

ARGUMENT

I. HILDWIN ABANDONED HIS FIRST MOTION TO VACATE WHEN HE APPEALED THE DNA-BASED POST-CONVICTION MOTION

INTRODUCTORY MATTERS

Hildwin's first postconviction relief motion resulted in penalty phase relief being granted on appeal, and a resentencing proceeding was ultimately conducted by the circuit court. On January 7, 2000, Hildwin filed a motion to vacate conviction and sentence attacking the death sentence imposed on resentencing. (V1, R92-114). Hildwin filed an amended motion on January 16, 2001, (V3, R514-569), and filed a "successive" postconviction motion (attacking that sentence) which pleaded various claims for relief on June 29, 2001. (V4, R662-706). The State filed a response, a *Huff* hearing was held, and the circuit court issued an order on that hearing on September 14, 2001. (V5, R912-919).

Subsequently, Hildwin sought DNA testing pursuant to the Rules of Criminal Procedure. The court allowed that testing,

and, on August 26, 2003, after DNA testing had been conducted, Hildwin filed an "amended successive" motion containing five (5) claims -- those claims were **an amendment** to the June 29, 2001, postconviction motion.¹¹ (V6, R1010-1078). Following a Huff hearing on the amendment to the successive motion, the Circuit Court issued an order denying relief on the claims contained in the amendment. (V8, R1439-1447). Hildwin filed a motion for rehearing, (V8, R1449-1479), but at no time suggested that there were any unresolved issues relating to the post-conviction proceedings before the circuit court. The court denied the motion for rehearing on May 20, 2004, (V8, R1480-1481) and, on June 16, 2004, Hildwin filed notice of appeal from the circuit court's denial of relief. (V9, R1644-1650). The appeal was briefed and argued, and, on December 14, 2006, this Court affirmed the denial of post-conviction relief. Hildwin, supra. The mandate was issued on March 23, 2007, and the case became final for all purposes. Again, at no time did Hildwin suggest that there were any issues to be decided other than those contained in the appeal. It was not until May 24, 2007, (V10, R1772) that Hildwin claimed that there were any unresolved matters pending before the circuit court.

¹¹ Hildwin claims that the DNA results were "favorable" to him. This Court rejected this conclusion when it affirmed the denial of post-conviction relief.

HILDWIN ABANDONED THE ISSUES THAT WERE NOT RAISED ON APPEAL

Florida law is well-settled that the filing of a notice of appeal deprives the trial court of jurisdiction to further consider issues contained in the appealed proceeding. State ex rel. Faircloth v. District of Court of Appeal, 187 So. 2d 890, 891 (Fla. 1966) ("There can be no doubt that the filing of a **notice of appeal** in the manner and within the time prescribed by the statutes and rules of this Court vests in the appellate court complete and exclusive jurisdiction of the subject matter and of the parties to the appeal."). (emphasis added). Likewise, the law is equally well settled that the failure to raise an issue on appeal is an abandonment of that issue. Smith v. Moore, 336 So. 2d 145, 146 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976) ("...the only point briefed by appellants relates to the propriety of the dismissal of the amended complaint as to the claim sought to be asserted by Kenneth and Elizabeth Smith against M. S. Linton, as sheriff of Taylor County; therefore, that is the only issue preserved for our review, all other issues being deemed abandoned.").

This Court has explicitly held that raising an issue without argument is an abandonment of that issue:

"Shere [the defendant] did not present any argument or allege on what grounds the trial court erred in denying these claims. We find that these claims are insufficiently presented for review. See State v. Mitchell, 719 So. 2d 1245, 1247 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) (finding that issues raised in appellate brief which

contain no argument are deemed abandoned), review denied, 729 So. 2d 393 (Fla. 1999)."

Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 218 (Fla. 1999). (emphasis added). If raising an issue without argument is an abandonment of that issue, and that is the law, then not briefing an issue at all is an abandonment of that claim as well. See, Fla. Hometown Democracy, Inc. v. Cobb, 953 So. 2d 666 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007) ("The point of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal, and without further elucidation on the arguments, this court may not engage in meaningful appellate review. Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990)."); Lawrence v. State, 831 So. 2d 121, 133 (Fla. 2002) (same).

In the context of this case, Hildwin never suggested to the circuit court that there were issues to be resolved other than those contained in the August 26, 2003, motion, nor did he suggest that further proceedings were necessary in his motion for rehearing filed after the Court's May 20, 2004, denial of relief. When Hildwin filed notice of appeal, the circuit court lost jurisdiction to consider any issues contained in the June 29, 2001, motion. And, when Hildwin failed to brief any claims based on that motion in his appeal to this Court, he abandoned those claims, and cannot resurrect them now.

Hildwin is not entitled to litigate his claims in a

piecemeal fashion, and has abandoned the claims that were not raised on appeal from the circuit court's denial of relief. In a related context, the Eleventh Circuit has said that "[w]e do not have one set of rules for petitioners and their attorneys in capital cases and another set for everyone else." *Jackson v. Crosby*, 375 F.3d 1291, 1300 (11th Cir. Fla. 2004) (Carnes, J., concurring). Hildwin sought, and ultimately received, an evidentiary hearing when further proceedings were foreclosed by the settled procedural rules. The circuit court should have enforced those rules, and declined Hildwin's invitation to conduct an evidentiary proceeding that Hildwin had abandoned. After all, "the Constitution does not require one-sidedness in favor of the defendant." *Davis v. Kemp*, 829 F.2d 1522, 1529 (11th Cir. 1987).

To the extent that Hildwin suggests that attorney error or inadvertence caused this case to follow the path it has taken, that is an insufficient basis to exempt Hildwin from compliance with Florida's procedural rules. In *Coleman v. Thompson*, a case in which notice of appeal from the denial of state postconviction relief was filed **three days late**, the United States Supreme Court enforced the state procedural rule and denied relief, stating:

There is no constitutional right to an attorney in state post-conviction proceedings. *Pennsylvania v. Finley*, 481 U.S. 551, 95 L. Ed. 2d 539, 107 S. Ct.

1990 (1987); Murray v. Giarratano, 492 U.S. 1, 106 L. Ed. 2d 1, 109 S. Ct. 2765 (1989) (applying the rule to capital cases). Consequently, a petitioner cannot claim constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel in such proceedings. See Wainwright v. Torna, 455 U.S. 586, 71 L. Ed. 2d 475, 102 S. Ct. 1300 (1982) (where there is no constitutional right to counsel there can be no deprivation of effective assistance). Coleman contends that it was his attorney's error that led to the late filing of his state habeas appeal. This error cannot be constitutionally ineffective; therefore Coleman must "bear the risk of attorney error that results in a procedural default."

Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722, 752-753, 111 S. Ct. 2546, 115 L. Ed. 2d 640 (1991). This Court should enforce Florida's settled procedural rules in order to ensure that those rules are afforded the proper deference in any subsequent federal proceedings in this case.

Finally, Hildwin's claim that this Court "remanded" this case for further proceedings is refuted by the final sentences of that decision, which state:

We have carefully reviewed the record and find no error in respect to the postconviction court's denial of the Amended Successive Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence. We therefore affirm.

It is so ordered.

Hildwin v. State, 951 So. 2d 784, 793 (Fla. 2006) (emphasis added).¹² Nothing in this language can be in any way construed as

¹² When this Court remands a case for further proceedings, there is no doubt that that is what the Court intends. One need look no further than the decision in Hildwin's previous postconviction appeal to find the clarity with which a remand order

remanding anything to the circuit court. That Court should have declined to conduct any further proceedings in this case.

II. THE "PRESENTATION OF MITIGATING EVIDENCE" CLAIM

On pages 39-56 of his brief, Hildwin says that his counsel were constitutionally ineffective at the penalty phase of his capital trial. Assuming that this claim is even properly before this Court, the Circuit Court decided the claim correctly. In denying relief on this claim, the court said:

THIS CAUSE comes before this Court after evidentiary hearing¹ wherein Defendant presented oral argument limited to two discrete claims of ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase of Defendant's 1996 re-sentencing proceeding². This Court, having reviewed the file, considered argument of counsel, the instant Motion, the Response filed thereto, the Reply, and being otherwise fully advised in the premises hereby finds as follows:

his counsel The Defendant alleges that 1. was ineffective for failing to adequately investigate, prepare, present, and provide to expert witnesses certain mitigating evidence as to the level of Defendant's mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the offense. At the evidentiary hearing on this issue it was uncontroverted that Dr. Richard Greenbaum, psychologist, examined Defendant Hildwin in 2000, and diagnosed him with posttraumatic stress disorder³. In 2008, Hildwin's trial counsel⁴ contacted Dr. Greenbaum for anther evaluation. Dr. Greenbaum reviewed a vast amount of material.⁵

Dr. Greenbaum re-examined Hildwin on January 14, 2009⁶. Dr. Greenbaum then diagnosed Hildwin with borderline

is stated. See, Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So. 2d 107, 111 (Fla. 1995).

personality disorder, posttraumatic stress disorder, underlying paranoid schizophrenia and anti social personality disorder.

¹Conducted January 20-21, 2009.

²Specifically these are the claims numbered II and VIII initially raised in Defendant's June 29, 2001 Motion To Vacate Judgment Of Conviction And Sentence.

³Dr. Greenbaum that a number of traumatic events that occurred in Hildwin's childhood had contributed to the diagnosis including his mother's death when he was a young child, his father's physical and mental abuse and abandonment by his father and his numerous placements in foster care.

⁴Richard A. Howard was trial Counsel and William H. Hallman was co-counsel both of whom are now circuit court judges.

⁵Some information Dr. Greenbaum reviewed prior to the re-evaluation included prior evidentiary hearing testimony, depositions, and affidavits, school and mental health records, Florida Supreme Court opinions, as well as a consultation with Dr. Robert Berland, forensic psychologist. (R14-15, 36, 84.)

⁶In 2009 Hildwin was suffering from cancer which affected the evaluation process. He was not diagnosed with cancer when he was examined and diagnosed in 2000.

At the time of Hildwin's resentencing proceeding in 1996, posttraumatic stress disorder was an accepted and recognized order. Dr. Greenbaum opined that Hildwin was suffering with posttraumatic stress disorder at the time he committed the murder. Dr. Greenbaum could not opine as to whether Hildwin was delusional at the time of the murder, but was "sure" that Hildwin was suffering from the disorder at the time of the murder.

Dr. Robert Berland, forensic psychologist, testified at Hildwin's 1996 re-sentencing. Berland did not agree with the sentencing order and Florida Supreme Court opinion pertaining to the 1996 re-sentencing. Dr. Berland testified that he did, in fact, inquire of defense counsel regarding receiving any information pertaining to any possible witnesses that may have seen Hildwin on the night of the crime. He said that he was told the witnesses were unavailable. То corroborate this testimony the record on appeal from the 1996 proceeding indicates Berland "admits he was unsuccessful in speaking with anybody who had contact with the defendant since 1979." Subsequent to the 1996 proceeding, Dr. Berland contacted witnesses he had attempted to interview prior to the re-sentencing 7 . However, these witnesses would not and did not provide any testimony that would have changed Dr. Berland's 1996 testimony⁸. (R. 95, 123, 124, 128-129).

William H. Hallman, co-counsel for the 1996 resentencing portion of this case, testified that Dr. Carbonell, Dr. Berland, and Dr. Maher were the experts working on the case. Hallman focused his attention on the work and anticipated testimony of Dr. Maher. Mr. Hallman testified that he relied heavily on the provided by the defense information investigator assigned to the case regarding contact with the experts. Throughout a series of letters between Mr. Hallman and Dr. Maher, Dr. Maher, at one point, described the scheduled deposition as being "unexpected". The correspondence also referred to a significant amount of time and work that Dr. Maher anticipated doing prior to providing testimony. Mr. Hallman could not recall why the deposition would have been unexpected or if, in fact, it was "unexpected" as described.

Mr. Hallman further recalled that Dr. Carbonell had been deposed and was scheduled to testify at the resentencing. However, on the morning of the proceeding both Howard and Hallman strategically decided not to call Dr. Carbonell as a witness. Dr. Carbonell said that if she had to testify "it would be against her will." She was very angry at being served a subpoena and further stated that she would not be helpful to Hildwin's case if she was called to testify. Clearly, defense counsel cannot be admonished for the strategic decision not to call an expert witness who openly admits that they would not be helpful to the defense.

⁷Specifically, Jeannie Freder, Michelle Hope, Cynthia Wriston and Matthew Sandy.

⁸Dr. Berland was able to finally locate, contact and interview a number of these individuals in preparation for the present post conviction relief proceeding. In short, Dr. Berland testified that the interviews provided little or no information which would have altered the substance of his 1996 testimony.

2. The defendant has a two part burden in an ineffective assistance of counsel claim as set forth by the Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*, 464 U.S. 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). First, the defendant must show deficient performance by counsel and second, that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant.

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